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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Shareholders of JSC Pioneer Group  

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of JSC Pioneer Group and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 
2025, the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2025, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity for 2025 and the consolidated statement of cash flows for 2025, and notes, including 
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2025, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for 2025 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the (Company)/(Group) in accordance 
with the independence requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in 
the Russian Federation and with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the requirements in the Russian 
Federation and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 

of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Recognition of revenue over time 

Please refer to the Notes 6 and 29(b) in the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Revenue from contracts with customers is 

recognized in most cases over time based on the 

degree of fulfillment of a contractual obligation 

which is calculated using the resource method. 

This method involves the use of significant 

professional judgment and assumptions to 

forecast total construction costs which are 

necessary to estimate the degree of fulfillment. 

Estimation of cost to complete is inherently 

uncertain due to the volatility of the economic 

situation, possible changes of projects’ parameters 

and the length of the operating cycle.  

In addition, the contract price is calculated including 

savings on interest expenses and other variable 

consideration, calculation of which is technically 

complicated and has a risk of a significant mistake.  

 

Our audit procedures included: 

­ We analyzed the applicable Group's 

accounting policy on revenue recognition 

for contracts with customers and the 

methodology used by management in 

calculating revenue over time during the 

reporting period. 

­ We selectively compared the components 

of the budgets underlying the determination 

of the degree of fulfilment of obligations 

under the contract with the characteristics 

of projects under construction defined in the 

relevant permits. We compared the 

expected cost of construction per square 

meter in the budget of selected projects 

with the historical cost per square meter in 

comparable completed projects and 

critically evaluated the explanations 

received for the identified significant 

discrepancies.  

­ In addition to other procedures for costs we 

have selectively compared the costs 

incurred to supporting documents.  

­ We have tested arithmetic calculations of 

the degree of fulfilment of obligations under 

the contract for selected projects of the 

Group.  

­ On a sample basis we compared the initial 

data in revenue calculation with contracts 

with customers. 

­ On a sample basis we recalculated savings 

on interest expenses in the consideration in 

contracts with customers. 

We assessed completeness of disclosures in 

Note 6. 
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Issuer’s Report of 

for 2025 year, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.  

The issuer’s report for 2025 year is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of Management and Audit Committee under Board of Directors for 
the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Audit Committee under Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 

financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  
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— Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s)ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern. 

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

— Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 

information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 

group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work 

performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with Audit Committee under Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide Audit Committee under Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with 

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 

taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee under Board of Directors, we determine those matters 

that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 

matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is: 

 

 

 

Fonareva Svetlana Borisovna 

 

Principal registration number of the entry in the Register of Auditors and Audit organizations 
No. 21906100620, acts on behalf of the audit organization based on the power of attorney No. 336/25 as of 
9 January 2025  

JSC “Kept”  

Principal registration number of the entry in the Register of Auditors and Audit Organizations No. 
12006020351 

Moscow, Russia 

4 March 2026  
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mln. RUB Прим. 2025  2024 
     

Revenue 6 75 997  47 114 

Cost of sales   (48 089)  (28 009) 

Gross profit  27 908   19 105  

Other income  596  305 

Commercial expenses 7   (3 543)   (2 950) 

Administrative expenses 9 (2 545)  (2 611) 

Other expenses  (516)  (191) 

Results from operating activities 
 21 900   13 658  

Finance income 10 1 812   1 474  

Finance costs 10 (19 170)  (10 241) 

Profit before income tax 
 4 542   4 891  

Income tax (expense) / income  11 (1 195)   262  

Profit for the year 
 3 347   5 153  

Profit and other comprehensive income 

attributable to: 
    

Owners of the Company 
 3 347  5 153 

Total comprehensive income for the year  3 347  5 153 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 21 3,35  5,15 

  

  

 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by Management of JSC Pioneer Group on 

4 March 2026 and were signed on its behalf by: 

General Director 

JSC Pioneer Group 

________________________  

Miroshnikov A.A. 

 Financial Director 

JSC Pioneer Group 

________________________ 

Solntseva A.V. 
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mln. RUB Note 

31 December 

2025  

31 December 

2024 

 

ASSETS      

Non-current assets      

Investment property  -  28  

Property, plant and equipment 12  1 107   851  

Intangible assets 13  275   203  

Other investments 16 12 488  11 592  

Deferred tax assets 14 4 333  3 866  

Trade and other receivables  27  27  

Total non-current assets  18 230  16 567  

      

Current assets      

Inventories 15  100 143   98 102  

Contract assets 6  56 213   32 555  

Cash and cash equivalents 17 4 585  923  

Trade and other receivables 18  1 355   1 126  

Assets recognized from costs to fulfil contracts   1 152   959  

Other current assets  159  879  

Other investments   51   13  

Total current assets   163 658   134 557  

Total assets   181 888   151 124  

      

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      

Equity      

Share capital 21 1  1  

Retained earnings  24 446  21 668  

Equity attributable to the owners  24 447  21 669  

Total equity  24 447  21 669  

      

Non-current liabilities      

Loans and borrowings 22  68 416   71 794  

Deferred tax liabilities 14  499   681  

Other non-current liabilities 19  272   3 477  

Total non-current liabilities   69 187   75 952  

      

Current liabilities      

Loans and borrowings 22  54 191   26 259  

Contract liabilities 6  19 424   15 490  

Trade and other payables 19  4 501   6 771  

Provisions 23  3 172   2 469  

Deferred income 20  6 966   2 514  

Total current liabilities   88 254   53 503  

Total liabilities   157 441   129 455  

Total equity and liabilities   181 888   151 124  
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mln. RUB  Equity attributable to owners of the Company 

 

 

Share capital  Retained earnings  Total 

 

Total equity 

 

Note 
 

Balance at 1 January 2024   
1   19 988   19 989   19 989  

Income for the year  -  5 153   5 153   5 153  

Total comprehensive income for the reporting 

year 

 

21 (c) -  5 153  5 153  5 153 

Transactions with Company’s owners  
-  (3 473)  (3 473)  (3 473) 

Balance at 31 December 2024  1   21 668   21 668  21 669 

 
 mln. RUB  Equity attributable to owners of the Company 

 

 

Share capital  Retained earnings  Total 

 

Total equity 

Note 
 

  Balance at 1 January 2025  
1   21 668   21 669   21 669 

  Income for the year  -  3 347   3 347   3 347  

Total comprehensive income for the reporting year  
-  3 347  3 347  3 347 

Transactions with Company’s owners 21 (с) -  (569)  (569)  (569) 

Balance at 31 December 2025  1   24 446   24 447  24 447 
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mln. RUB Note 2025  2024 
     
OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Profit before income tax  4 542  4 891 

Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortization  506  386 

Capitalized interest, including significant financing 

component on prepayments from customers attributed to 

cost of sales 10 4 415  1 874 

Income from disposal of property, plant and equipment  (140)  (9) 

Loss from disposal of intangible assets  13  3 

Finance income 10 (1 812)  (1 474) 

Finance costs 10 19 170   10 241  

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in 

working capital and provisions  26 694  15 912 

Decrease / (increase) in inventories  1 856  (17 804) 

Increase in contract assets  (23 658)  (5 809) 

Increase in assets recognized from costs to fulfil contracts  (193)  (404) 

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables  (505)  158 

Decrease in contract liabilities  (10 119)  (7 806) 

Increase in deferred income  4 452  295 

(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables  (6 205)  683 

Increase  in provisions  111  73 

Cash flows used in operating activities before income 

taxes and interest paid  (7 567)  (14 702) 

Income tax paid  (948)  (1 393) 

Interest paid  (8 572)  (3 081) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (17 087)  (19 176) 
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mln. RUB Note 2025  2024 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Proceeds from sales of non-current assets  107  207 

Interest received  479  451 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (253)  (308) 

Acquisition of intangible assets  (201)  (110) 

Loans granted  (2 581)  (13 309) 

Loans repaid  2 870  8 438 

Net cash (used in) / from investing activities  421  (4 631) 

     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES       

Proceeds from borrowings  67 551  61 894 

Repayment of borrowings  (46 280)  (35 428) 

Rental payments  (186)  (329) 

Other payments to Company’s owners  (1 122)  (3 663) 

Owner’s contribution  365  - 

Net cash from financing activities  20 328  22 474 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  3 662  (1 333) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  923  2 270 

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash 

equivalents   -  (14) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 

year 17 4 585  923 

 
 

(*) Cash flows from operating activities in 2025 do not include cash received by the responsible banks 

from the owners of escrow accounts - participants of share construction (customers who purchased 

property) for payments of the contract amount in amount of RUB 50 285 mln. 

(in 2024: RUB 44 252 mln.). 
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1 Reporting entity 

(a) Organization and operations 

JSC Pioneer Group (hereinafter the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively the 

“Group”) are registered in the Russian Federation and carry out projects on the construction of residential 

and commercial real estate and their subsequent sale. The Group operates principally in Moscow.  

The Company was founded in 2007 and is registered at the address: 119435, Moscow, Malaya 

Pirogovskaya street, building 3, floor 4, premises I, room 18. 

The following legal entities are the shareholders of the Group: 

▪ Novy Kolizey LLC (50% shareholding) 

▪ Element Management Company LLC (50% shareholding) 

The Group is one operating segment for purposes of IFRS reporting. 

As of 31 December 2025 and 31 December 2024 the ultimate beneficiary owner of the Group is Mr. 

Maksimov L.V., who is entitled to manage the Group’s operations at his own discretion and in his own 

interest. Related party transactions are disclosed in note 26. 

(b) Business environment 

The Group’s operations are primarily located in the Russian Federation. Consequently, the Group is 

exposed to the economic and financial markets of the Russian Federation, which display the 

characteristics of an emerging market. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue development, 

but are subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes which contribute together with other legal 

and fiscal impediments to the challenges faced by entities operating in the Russian Federation. 

In 2025 the events in Ukraine continued to significantly influence the economic environment in which 

the Group operates. Sanctions imposed by the United States of America, the European Union and some 

other countries against the Government of the Russian Federation, as well as many large financial 

institutions, legal entities and individuals in Russia continue to be in effect and have been expanded. The 

imposition and subsequent strengthening of sanctions have resulted in elevated economic uncertainty, 

including reduced liquidity and high volatility in the capital markets, volatility of the Rouble exchange 

rate, a decrease in foreign and domestic direct investments, difficulties in making payments for Russian 

Eurobond issuers, a significant reduction in the availability of sources of debt financing, as well as changes 

in the structure of payable demand of the population. In addition, Russian companies have virtually no 

access to the international stock market, the debt capital market and other development opportunities, 

which may lead to their increased dependence on the governmental support. The Russian economy is in 

the process of adaptation associated with the replacement of retiring export markets, a change in supply 

markets and technologies, as well as changes in logistics, supply and production chains. 

It is difficult to assess the consequences of the imposed and possible additional sanctions in the long term; 

however, sanctions may have a significant negative impact on the Russian economy.  

The consolidated financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the Russian 

business environment on the operations and the financial position of the Group. The future business 

environment may differ from management’s assessment. 
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2 Basis of accounting 

(a) Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). 

3 Functional and presentation currency 

The national currency of the Russian Federation is the Russian Ruble (“RUB”), which is the Company’s 

functional currency and the currency in which these consolidated financial statements are presented.  

All financial information presented in RUB has been rounded to the nearest million. 

4 Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to 

make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from those 

estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes: 

• Note 6 – revenue recognition. 

• Note 25 – contingencies. 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a 

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year is 

included in the following notes: 

• Note 6 – revenue. 

• Note 14 – deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

• Note 15 – inventories. 

• Note 20 – deferred income. 

• Note 23 – provisions. 

• Note 25 – contingencies. 

5 Fair value measurement 

Several the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both 

financial and non-financial assets and liabilities  

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as 

possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used 

in the valuation techniques as follows: 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
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• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different levels 

of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level 

of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period 

during which the change has occurred. 

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the note 24. 

6 Revenue  

(a) Revenue structure 

Detailed information on the Group’s revenue is present in the table below where it is disaggregated into 

key products and into revenue recognized:  

  2025  2024 

7 mln. RUB  

8 Over time 

revenue   

9 Point in time 

revenue  

10 Over time 

revenue   

11 Point in time 

revenue 

Revenue from the sale of flats  55 842  55  28 285  1 574 

Revenue from the sale of commercial real estate   13 382  548  9 499  1 195 

Revenue from the sale of parking slots  3 523  2  1 750  125 

Revenue from sale of land lease rights, permissions 

and project documentation relating to land plots  
- 

 
2 273 

 
- 

 
4 404 

Revenue from other services  100  152  -  243 

Total revenue from contracts with customers  72 847  3 030  39 534  7 541 

Revenue from rent  120  39 

Total revenue for the year  75 997  47 114 

Point in time revenue for 2025 and 2024 mostly relates to sales of finished goods and land lease rights. 

The transaction amount for projects sold with application of escrow accounts was determined with 

economy on interest expenses in view of the application of lower interest rates compared to base rates 

provided by loans’ agreements. Lower rates are applied to the loan balances covered by cash received 

from customers to escrow accounts and are additionally reduced in case when cash on escrow accounts is 

higher than loans received, as a result of which accrual interest rates are lower than base rates. The 

economy on escrow accounted in revenue for the year 2025 was RUB 12 632 mln. 

(2024: RUB 5 929 mln.). 
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(b) Contract balances 

Information about trade receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities are provided in the table below. 

mln. RUB  31 December 2025  31 December 2024 

Accounts receivable from contracts with customers that are part 

of «Trade and other receivables» balance sheet line 
 

547 
 

48 

Contract assets  56 213  32 555 

Contract liabilities  (19 424)  (15 490) 

  
37 336 

 
17 113 

Contract assets as of 31 December 2025, include a RUB 56 213 mln. asset related to escrow contracts 

(2024: RUB 32 555 mln.). 

In 2025 revenue of RUB 28 258 mln. was recognized from contracts signed as of 31 December 2024 

(2024: RUB 14 510 mln. from contracts signed as of 31 December 2023). 

Breakdown of revenue to be recognized in the future periods under the contracts registered as of 

31 December 2025, where the contract liabilities are not fulfilled by the Group as of 31 December 2025, 

is following: 

mln. RUB  2026  2027  2028-2030 

Revenue   31 889  8 369  1 327 

Total revenue  31 889  8 369  1 327 

Breakdown of revenue to be recognized in the future periods under the contracts registered as of 

31 December 2024, where the contract liabilities are not fulfilled by the Group as of 31 December 2024, 

is following. 

mln. RUB  2025  2026  2027-2029 

Revenue   28 780  15 003  5 115 

Total revenue  28 780  15 003  5 115 

7 Commercial expenses 

mln. RUB 
 

2025 
 

2024 

Advertising expenses 
 

1 653  1 758 

Amortization of assets recognized from costs to fulfil contracts – 

realtor services  957  505 

Personnel costs  767  602 

Amortization of other assets used for commercial purposes  159  81 

Other commercial costs   7  4 

  
3 543 

 
2 950 
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8 Personnel costs 

mln. RUB  2025 
 

2024 

Wages and salaries  880   1 012  

Bonuses  652  550 

Social taxes  331  322 
  1 863  1 884 

9  Administrative expenses 

mln. RUB  2025  2024 

Personnel costs  1 096  1 282 

Depreciation and amortization, including depreciation of right-of-use 

assets  
347 

 
304 

Taxes  145  64 

Staff learning  108  128 

Consulting and legal expenses  52  131 

Other administrative expenses  797  702 

  2 545  2 611 

10 Finance income and costs 

mln. RUB  2025  2024 

Finance income     

Interest income on loans and deposits  1 691  1 408 

Other finance income  121  66 

  1 812  1 474 

Finance cost          

Interest expense on loans and borrowings  (25 684)  (15 932) 

Expenses on installment plans for land lease  (532)  (1 338) 

Interest expenses on financing component  (478)  (170) 

Interest expense on rent  (39)  (14) 

Interest expense before capitalization in the cost of real estate  (26 733)  (17 454) 

Capitalized interest (*)  8 312  7 445 

Total finance costs after capitalization  (18 421)  (10 009) 

Unwinding of discount on provisions  (592)  (106) 

Other finance costs  (157)  (126) 

  (19 170)  (10 241) 

 (*) Average interest capitalization rate for 2025 is 20.8% (2024: 16.4%). 

In 2025 interest expenses capitalized in inventories were recognized in cost of sales in the amount of 

RUB 4 415 mln. (2024: RUB 1 874 mln.). 
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11 Income tax (expense) / income 

(a) Amounts recognized in profit or loss 

The Group’s applicable tax rate is the corporate income tax rate of 25% (2024: 20%) which is tax rate for 

Russian entities.  

 

mln. RUB  2025  2024 

Current income tax expense     

Current year  (1 648)  (758) 

Deferred income tax     

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  453  1 020 

Total income tax (expense) / income   (1 195)  262 

(b) Amounts recognized directly in equity 

mln. RUB 2025 

 Before tax Tax 

After tax (see Note 

21(с)) 

Discount on loans given to related parties at a low 

interest rate, other shareholder costs 759 (190) 569 

 759 (190) 569 

mln. RUB 2024 

 Before tax Tax 

After tax (see Note 

21(с)) 

Discount on loans given to related parties at a low 

interest rate  3 888 (777) 3 111 

Fair value of financial guarantee on related party 

debt  453 (91) 362 

 4 341 (868) 3 473 

(c) Effective tax rate reconciliation: 

  2025  2024 

  RUB mln.  %  RUB mln.  % 

Profit before income tax  4 542   100  4 891   100 

Income tax at applicable tax rate  (1 136)  25  (978)  20 

Increase of applicable tax rate for deferred 

tax  -  -  637  (13) 

Utilisation of unrecognized deferred tax 

assets   119  (3)  192  (4) 

Non-taxable income  -  -  494  (10) 

Non-deductible expenses  (178)  4  (83)  2 

  (1 195)  26  262  (5) 
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12 Property, plant and equipment 

 

mln. RUB 
 Buildings Other Total 

Cost  
   

Balance at 1 January 2024  1 619 370 1 990 

Additions  155 153 309 

Disposals  (69) (50) (119) 

Balance at 31 December 2024  1 705 474 2 179 

     

Balance at 1 January 2025  1 705 474 2 179 

Additions  635 116 751 

Disposals  (113) (43) (157) 

Balance at 31 December 2025  2 227 547 2 773 

 

Depreciation and impairment losses 
    

Balance at 1 January 2024  (912) (168) (1 079) 

Depreciation for the year  (209) (95) (304) 

Depreciation for the year on disposed fixed assets  19 36 55 

Balance at 31 December 2024  (1 101) (227) (1 328) 

     

Balance at 1 January 2025  (1 101) (227) (1 328) 

Depreciation for the year  (268) (121) (389) 

Depreciation for the year on disposed fixed assets  11 39 50 

Balance at 31 December 2025  (1 358) (308) (1 666) 

     

Carrying amounts     

Balance at 1 January 2024  708 203 910 

Balance at 31 December 2024  604 247 851 

Balance at 31 December 2025  868 239 1 107 

 

 

(а) Depreciation for the year 

 

Depreciation for 2025 is included in commercial expenses in amount of RUB 109 mln. and in 

administrative expenses in amount of RUB 280 mln. (for 2024: RUB 48 mln. and RUB 256 mln., 

respectively). 

 

 

(b) Right-of-use assets  

 

As of 31 December 2025 the carrying amount of right-of-use asset related to rent of the office premises 

is RUB 498 mln. (31 December 2024: RUB 87 mln.). 
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13 Intangible assets 

mln. RUB  31 December 

2025 
 31 December 

2024 

Balance at 1 January  203  177 

Additions  201  110 

Amortization for the year  (117)  (81) 

Depreciation of disposals  17  2 

Disposals  (29)  (5) 

Balance at 31 December  275  203 

Intangible assets mainly include licenses and software. 

14 Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

(a) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities 

As of 31 December 2025 deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities amounted RUB 4 333 mln. and 

RUB 499 mln., respectively (31 December 2024: RUB 3 866 mln. and RUB 681 mln.). 

As at 31 December 2025 deferred tax assets were mostly recognized on temporary differences on 

inventory in the amount of RUB 16 558 mln., provisions in the amount of RUB 793 mln., other 

investments in the amount of RUB 792 mln. and contract liabilities in the amount of RUB 545 mln. and 

were netted on each Group company versus deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences on contract 

assets in the amount of RUB (12 391) mln. and on loans and borrowings in the amount of 

RUB (3 176) mln. 

The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities balances for 2025 was included in profit tax expenses in 

the amount of RUB 453 mln. and in equity in the amount of RUB 190 mln. (2024: profit tax expenses in 

the amount of RUB 1 020 mln. and equity in the amount of 868 mln.).  

(b) Unrecognized deferred tax liabilities 

Deferred tax assets in the amount of RUB 975 mln. as at 31 December 2025, RUB 1 094 mln. as at 31 

December 2024 were not recognized in respect of deductible temporary differences due to the low 

probability of future taxable profit for those subsidiaries of the Group that can use these tax benefits. 

15  Inventories 

 

mln. RUB  31 December 

2025 
 31 December 

2024 

 

Construction in progress at the stage of active development  74 810  75 795  

Construction in progress in the form of land rights  9 671  11 713  

Construction in progress at the stage of obtaining of project 

documentation approvals 
 5 871  9 438 

 

Finished goods and goods for resale  9 791  1 156  

  100 143  98 102 
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Construction in progress will be put into use as follows:  

mln. RUB  31 December 

2025 
 31 December 

2024 

 

2025  -  37 243  

2026  24 037  7 489  

2027  34 429  39 365  

2028  7 725  1 136  

2029-2032  14 490  -  

  80 681  85 233  

As of 31 December 2025 and 31 December 2024 the Group's management tested inventory for 

impairment. According to the results of the testing the inventory net realizable value exceeds their book 

value, and no significant impairment of the inventory was identified.  

16 Investments 

This note provides information on the Group's other investments.  

mln. RUB  31 December 

 2025 
 

31 December 

 2024 

Long-term loans issued   12 488  11 592 

  12 488  11 592 

The Group issued unsecured loans at 2%-24% p.a. maturing in 2027-2032 years. Also refer to notes 21 

(с) and 26. 

Information on the Group's exposure to credit and currency risks in respect of loans issued is disclosed in 

Note 24.  

17 Cash and cash equivalents 

mln. RUB  31 December 

 2025 
 

31 December 

 2024 

Current bank accounts  4 556  840 

Letters of credit for construction  27  83 

Petty cash  2  - 

  4 585  923  

As of 31 December 2025 cash and cash equivalents amounting to RUB 888 mln. (31 December 2024: 

none) can only be used to finance one construction project of the Group. 

Information on the Group's exposure to credit risks in respect of loans issued is disclosed in Note 24.  
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18 Trade and other receivables 

mln. RUB  
31 December 

 2025 
 

31 December 

 2024 

Trade receivables  547  48 

Advances given  234  252 

Accounts receivable for taxes other than profit tax  218  207 

Accounts receivable for profit tax  31  432 

Other receivables  325  187 

  1 355  1 126 

Information on the Group's exposure to credit risks and impairment losses on trade and other receivables 

is disclosed in Note 24. 

19 Trade and other payables 

mln. RUB  31 December 

 2025 
 

31 December 

 2024 

Payables to suppliers  2 826  3 010 

Income tax payable  423  116 

Accounts payable for land rent and changes of land permissible use  411  5 823 

Payables to employees  396  254 

Other taxes payable (excl. income tax)  343  620 

Other payables  374  425 

  4 773  10 248 

Other non-current liabilities  272  3 477 

Accounts payable current  4 501  6 771 

  4 773  10 248 

Information on the Group's exposure to liquidity risks in respect of trade and other payables is disclosed 

in Note 24. 

20  Deferred income 

mln. RUB  2025  2024 

Balance at 1 January  2 514  2 218 

Additions  5 971  1 619 

Recognised in cost of sales and decrease in cost of investment 

projects due to completion of the terms of the government grants   
(1 332) 

 
(1 078) 

Decrease of deferred income by the amount of commission under the 

bank guarantee & other  
(187) 

 
(245) 

Balance at 31 December  6 966  2 514 

 

As at 31 December 2025 deferred income in the amount of RUB 6 966 mln. (31 December 2024: 

RUB 2 514 mln.) contains government grants received in the form of deferral allowances with subsequent 

exemption from rent payments and debt for change of permitted land usage for several projects of the 

Group. The basis for the benefits is the Group's participation in the implementation of investment projects 
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for the creation of workplace applications in Moscow. As at 31 December 2025 most deferred income is 

recognized for two investment projects at a low stage of construction. 

 

Based on the terms of the government grants banks issued the Moscow Government irrevocable bank 

guarantees in the amount of RUB 8 774 mln. as at 31 December 2025 until 2026-2029 (as at 31 December 

2024: RUB 3 655 mln. as at 31 December 2025 until 2025-2027). Interest rates on the bank guarantees 

were 2.2%-3.5%. 

Management is reasonably certain that as at 31 December 2025 and 31 December 2024 and the following 

reporting dates the Group is in compliance with the terms of the government grants, therefore, the Group 

classified the receivables for the lease of land and change of land use as deferred income with subsequent 

recognition of these receivables as a reduction of the cost of investment projects to create land for labor 

applications in Moscow as revenue from these projects is recognized.  

21 Capital and reserves 

(a) Share capital  

mln. RUB     

Authorized share capital   

31 December 

2025 
 

31 December 

2024 

Ordinary shares with a par value of RUB 1 000 per 1000 shares  1   1  

Issued by year’s end, fully paid  1  1 

Income attributable to owners of the Company  3 347  5 153 

Basic and diluted earnings per share  3,35  5,15 

Ordinary shares 

All shares provide equal rights to residual assets of the Company. The holders of ordinary shares are 

entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 

meetings of the Company.  

(b) Dividends 

Pursuant to effective Russian legislation, the Company's provisions to be distributed are limited to the 

balance of accumulated retained earnings presented in the Company's statutory financial statements 

prepared in accordance with Russian Accounting Standards. In both 2025 and 2024 no decision to 

distribute dividends was taken at the general meetings of shareholders.   

(c) Transactions with Company’s owners 

The amount of transactions with owners reflected in equity in 2025 was RUB 569 mln.:  

• The Group issued loans to related parties at low interest rates and wrote off interest balances. The 

effect of initial recognition of loans provided at market interest rates 16%-18%, net of tax, was 

recognized directly in equity in the amount of RUB 72 mln.  

• The Group also reflected the related party expenses in equity at the amount of RUB 497 mln. 

The amount of transactions with owners reflected in equity in 2024 was RUB 3 473 mln.: 

• The Group issued loans to related parties at low interest rates. The effect of initial recognition of 

loans provided at market interest rates 15%-17%, net of tax, was recognized directly in equity in 

the amount of RUB 3 111 mln. 

• The Group gave a surety for related party debt until September 2028 in the amount of 
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RUB 5 000 mln. The fair value of this financial guarantee less tax was recognized directly in 

equity in the amount of RUB 362 mln. 

22 Loans and borrowings  

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to 

interest rate and liquidity risk see Note 24. 

Most loan agreements of the Group contain financial and non-financial covenants which are mostly 

calculated based on actual parameters of the Group projects under construction and statutory financial 

statements of the Group’s entities. As at 31 December 2025 and 31 December 2024 there are no significant 

future risks regarding covenants. 

 

mln. RUB  31 December 2025  31 December 2024 

Non-current liabilities     
Long-term secured loans  65 655  71 766 

Debt securities issued  2 274  - 

Long-term liabilities for leases  287  - 

Long-term borrowings  200  28 

  68 416  71 794 

Current liabilities  
 

 
 

Short-term secured loans  53 950  21 531 

Current lease liabilities  235  118 

Debt securities  7  3 026 

Short-term unsecured loans  -  1 154 

Short-term borrowings  -  320 

Debt on digital financial assets  -  109 

  54 191  26 259 
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(a) Terms and debt repayment schedule 

         31 December 2025   31 December 2024 

mln. RUB Currency Nominal interest rate Effective interest rate Year of maturity Face value 
Carrying 

amount   
Face value 

Carrying 

amount 

Debt securities RUB 11,75% 11,75% 2025 - -  3 026 3 026 

Debt securities 
RUB Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 4.5% 

Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 4.5% 
2028 2 274 2 274  - - 

Debt securities 
RUB Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 4.5% 

Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 4.5% 
2026 7 7  - - 

Secured bank loans RUB floating * floating * 2027-2031 52 344 52 344  68 793 68 793 

Secured bank loans RUB floating * floating * 2025-2026 46 972 46 972  10 608 10 608 

Secured bank loans 
RUB Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 5.25%-6.7% 

Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 5.25%-6.7% 
2026-2025 6 979 6 979  10 923 10 923 

Secured bank loans 
RUB Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 5.25%-6.7% 

Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 5.25%-6.7% 
2031 13 311 13 311  2 973 2 973 

Unsecured bank loans 
RUB Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 4% 

Bank of Russia key interest 

rate + 4% 
2025 - -  1 154 1 154 

Borrowings 
RUB 2%-Bank of Russia key 

interest rate + 6% 

2%-Bank of Russia key 

interest rate + 6% 
2025-2030 200 200  348 348 

Lease liabilities RUB 10%-27,75% 10%-27,75% 2025-2029 522 522  118 118 

Debt on digital financial assets RUB 15-25% 15-25% 2025 - -  109 109 

         122 607 122 607   98 053 98 053 

* During 2025, the Group used credit lines to finance the Group's construction projects at a variable interest rate adjusted for escrow balances. As at 31 December 2025, 

the loan rate was in the range from the base rate of 18.4% - 21.8% to the preferential rate 0.01% - 13% applied to loan debt covered by balances on escrow accounts 

(31 December 2024: base rate of 23.4% - 26.5%, preferential rate of 0.01% - 18%). The value of the base rate on such loans is tied to the key rate of the Central Bank of 

the Russian Federation.  

As at 31 December 2025, the following assets were securing the bank loans: 

• Inventories with a carrying amount of RUB 95 683 mln. (31 December 2024: RUB 84 148 mln.). 

• Cash and cash equivalents with a carrying amount of RUB 477 mln. (31 December 2024: RUB 90 mln.). 

• The Group's owner's surety in the amount of RUB 3 500 million (terminated in January 2026), as well as the pledge of shares and stakes in most of the Group's 

subsidiaries. 
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(b) Reconciliation between changes in loans and borrowings and financing cash flow 

activities 

mln. RUB  2025  2024 

Balance of loans and borrowings as at 1 January  98 053  72 293 

Proceeds from borrowings  67 551  61 894 

Repayment of borrowings  (46 280)  (35 428) 

Interest paid  (8 572)  (3 081) 

Interest expense on loans and borrowings (Note 10)  25 684  15 932 

Minus economy on escrow accounted in interest expense on loans 

and borrowings  (12 644)  (5 861) 

Changes in the book value of economy on escrow in loans and 

borrowings for the year  
(1 647) 

 
(7 463) 

Other movements  462  (233) 

Balance of loans and borrowings as at 31 December  122 607  98 053 

 

23 Provisions 

mln. RUB  

31 December 

2025  

31 December 

2024 

Provision for construction of infrastructure  2 802  1 885 

Provision for onerous contracts  315  529 

Other provisions  55  55 

Total provisions  3 172  2 469 

 

The amount of provision for infrastructure construction is an estimate of future expenses that the Group 

is expected to incur in the construction of infrastructure and other social facilities, such as construction 

of networks, schools, kindergartens, roads, etc. for projects based on their stage of completion. 

These estimates are largely dependent on the current rules and regulations of urban development, 

changes in which may entail changes in the terms of investment contracts and other agreements entered 

into with the Group, and changes in prices for construction materials and labor. 

In 2025 Group used a reserve for infrastructure construction in the amount of RUB 691 mln. and 

accrued new reserves in the amount of RUB 1 608 mln., taking into account the release of a discount, 

which amounted to RUB 592 mln. (see Note 10). 

In 2024 Group used a reserve for infrastructure construction in the amount of RUB 301 mln. and 

accrued new reserves in the amount of RUB 210 mln., taking into account the release of a discount, 

which amounted to RUB 106 mln. (see Note 10). 
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24 Fair value and risk management 

(a) Accounting classification and fair value measurement 

(i) Financial assets and liabilities whose fair value is determined solely for disclosure 

purposes 

• Debt securities issued 

The fair value of debt securities (non-convertible bearer bonds) related to level 2 of the fair value 

hierarchy is calculated on the basis of listed prices for debt securities with similar characteristics from 

the MICEX listing. On the basis of these prices, the market discount rate, which is financial return to 

maturity, is determined. Fair value is determined by discounted the future expected cash flows using 

this market discount rate.  

• Loans and borrowings 

The fair value of loans and borrowings related to level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is calculated based 

the future expected cash flows discounted using this market discount rate. 

• Trade and other receivables, loans given, financial guarantees 

The fair value of trade and other receivables, loans given and financial guarantees included in level 3 

of the fair value hierarchy, is assessed as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market 

rate of interest at the reporting date.  

• Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The fair value of non-derivative financial liabilities included in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is 

calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the 

market rate of interest as at the reporting date. 

• Fair value for disclosure purposes 

As of 31 December 2025 the fair value of loans and borrowings received was less than their book value 

by RUB 5 300 mln. (31 December 2024: RUB 4 500 mln. less), the fair value of loans issued was less 

than their book value by RUB 2 200 mln. (31 December 2024: RUB 2 200 mln. less). The fair value of 

other financial assets and liabilities did not differ significantly from their carrying amounts. 

(b) Financial risk management 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• credit risk; 

• liquidity risk; 

• market risks. 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of 

capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial 

statements.  

Basic principles of risk management 

The Group Management has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 

risk management framework. 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the 

Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 
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management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and 

the Group’s activities. The Group sets its training and management standards and procedures, aiming 

to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their 

roles and obligations.  

(i) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables 

from customers and investments in debt securities. The carrying amount of financial assets represents 

the Group’s maximum credit risk exposure.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:   

   Carrying amounts 

mln. RUB   31 December 2025  31 December 2024 

Contract assets   56 213  32 555 

Loans given   12 540  11 605 

Cash and cash equivalents   4 585  923 

Trade receivables   547  48 

Other receivables   320  187 

   74 205  45 318 

• Trade receivables, assets under contracts 

Receivables are made up mainly of trade receivables on residential and non-residential real estate 

assets, installments for which are given rarely and mostly until the date of put into use and thus are 

immaterial.  

Contract assets mostly consist of amounts due under contracts and paid by customers but deposited on 

escrow accounts till finalization of the projects. The Group minimizes its credit risk in sales of real 

estate to individuals and legal entities by performing such transactions mostly on a pre-payment basis. 

At the reporting date there are no significant contract assets payment for which are to be made through 

the term of construction.  

For the purpose of operational control over the level of credit risk, suppliers and customers are divided 

into groups according to credit characteristics, such as the type of counterparty (individual / legal 

entity), the type of contract, the timing of occurrence and repayment. The Group's sales department 

analyzes compliance with the payment schedule by customers on a monthly basis. In case of violation 

of payment terms by buyers, a decision is made either to change the installment schedule or to terminate 

equity participation agreements. 

The Group does not request any collateral to be present for its trade and other receivables. 

The Group assesses the credit risk arising from the recognition of contract assets and cash placed in 

escrow accounts based on the credit ratings of partner banks with which escrow accounts are opened. 

As of 31 December 2025 and 31 December 2024 these banks had credit ratings ranging from AA+ to 

AAA as rated by the Analytical Credit Rating Agency (ACRA). The management assessed the expected 

credit losses for contract assets as immaterial for both dates. 

• Loans given 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 

customer.  
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The Group mostly give loans to related parties. The Group manages recognition and repayment of loans 

given to related parties (Note 26), due to which considers that these receivables do not have a significant 

credit risk. Credit risk of related parties was estimated as BBB+ and was calculated based on the 

Group’s credit risk, which is A- as at 31 December 2025 as rated by the Analytical Credit Rating 

Agency (ACRA), minus 1 point. The expected credit losses were estimated as immaterial based on the 

comparable Moody’s credit rating and published probabilities and volume of expected credit losses. 

• Guarantees 

The Group’s policy foresees the provision of financial guarantees by Group companies only for the 

liabilities of Group companies and related parties (see Note 26). The credit quality of financial 

guarantees as at 31 December 2025 and 31 December 2024 was assessed as with a normal risk. The 

amount of the expected credit losses for them did not exceed recognized liabilities for both dates.  

Carrying amount of financial assets other than contract assets and cash and cash equivalents: 

mln. RUB 

Total 

carrying 

amount 31 

December 

2025  

 

Depreciation 

31 December 

2025 

 Total 

carrying 

amount 31 

December 

2024 

 

Depreciation 

31 December 

2024    

НепросроUnexpired 13 500  (93)  11 892  (34) 

Expired 77  (77)  76  (76) 

 13 577  (170)  11 968  (110) 

The movement in the allowance for impairment during the year was as follows and mostly related to 

loans given: 

mln. RUB  

31 December 

2025  

31 December 

2024 

Initial balance  110  135 

Change in reserve for the reporting year  60  (25) 

Balance as of the end of the year  170  110 

There were no credit rating downgrades during the reporting period. All of the Group's debtors are 

located in the Russian Federation.  

• Cash and cash equivalents  

As of December 31, 2025, cash and cash equivalents amounted to 4 585 million rubles (in 2024: 923 

million rubles) and are held in banks with the following ratings according to the Analytical Credit 

Rating Agency (ACRA): 

mln. RUB  31 December 2025  31 December 2024 

AA+ (RU)  2 883  147 

AAA (RU)  1 699  774 

Others  3  2 

  4 585    923 

(ii)  
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(iii) Liquidity risk   

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 

its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group's 

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 

unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. 

The Group's financial department manages liquidity risk in accordance with internal guidelines 

approved by the Group's management which are regularly reviewed to reflect changing market 

conditions. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 

payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements. It is not expected that the cash flows included 

in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts. 

The Group plans to repay its financial liabilities using the proceeds from the sale of apartments and 

commercial real estate.  

As of 31 December 2025, the Group has resources in the amount of RUB 153 505  mln., including cash 

and cash equivalents in the amount of RUB 4 585 mln., escrow balances in the amount of 

RUB 86 581 mln., and an unused limit of credit lines in the amount of RUB 62 339 mln. 

Based on the liquidity position of the Group at the date of approval of these consolidated financial 

statements, management believes that the Group has sufficient resources and a sufficient reserve of 

credit facilities. 
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31 December 2025 

RUB mln.  

Carrying 

amount  

Contractual 

cash flows  0-2 months  2-12 months  1-2 years  2-5 years 

 

5+ years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities               

Secured bank loans   119 605    159 713    586    57 842    10 297    55 537    35 450  

Borrowings   200    238    -      -      -      238   - 

Debt securities issued   2 280    3 531    85    393    393    2 660   - 

Trade and other payables   3 703    3 829    3 159    405    114    151    -    

Obligations under finance lease contracts   522    659    40    195    224    200    -    

Issued sureties (Note 26)   303    5 000    5 000   -  -  -  - 

   126 613    172 971    8 870    58 835    11 028    58 787    35 450  

 

31 December 2024 

RUB mln.  

Carrying 

amount  

Contractual 

cash flows  0-2 months  2-12 months  1-2 years  2-5 years 

 

5+ years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities               

Secured bank loans  93 297  137 837  5 600  21 235  24 604  47 013  39 384 

Unsecured bank loans  1 154  1 259  -  1 259  -  -  - 

Borrowings  348  355  323  -  -  33  - 

Debt securities issued  3 026  3 221  -  3 221  -  -  - 

Digital financial assets  109  127  -  127  -  -  - 

Trade and other payables  9 100  11 298  3 197  3 863  1 771  2 467  - 

Obligations under finance lease contracts  118  121  28  93  -  -  - 

Issued sureties (Note 26)  413  5 000  5 000   -   -  -  - 

  107 565  159 218  14 148  29 798   26 375  49 513  39 384 
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(iv) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates 

will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 

market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, 

while optimizing the return on investments. 

• Currency risk 

In 2025 and 2024 the Group has not been exposed to significant currency risks. 

• Interest rate risk 

Changes in interest rates impact primarily loans and borrowings by changing either their fair value 

(fixed rate debt) or their future cash flows (variable rate debt). Management does not have a formal 

policy of determining how much of the Group’s exposure should be to fixed or variable rates. However, 

at the time of raising new loans or borrowings management uses its judgment to decide whether it 

believes that a fixed or variable rate would be more favorable to the Group over the expected period 

until maturity. 

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

  Carrying amounts 

RUB mln.  31 December 2025  31 December 2024 

Fixed rate instruments     

Financial assets  12 540  11 605 

Financial liabilities  (1 133)  (9 425) 

Variable interest rate instruments     

Financial liabilities*  (121 886)  (94 451) 

  (110 478)  (92 271) 

* The above financial liabilities include credit lines to finance the Group's construction projects at a 

variable interest rate, adjusted depending on the volume of escrow balances. The facility has two 

components: a prime rate, which is primarily dependent on the Central bank of Russia key rate, and a 

reduces interest rate applied to loans covered by escrow balances. 

Variable interest rate instruments 

If the Central bank of Russia key rate increases by 1 percentage point, the interest expense before 

interest capitalization would increase by RUB 344 mln. (2024: RUB 304 mln.) 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss. Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss. 

(c) Equity management 

The Group's management has a policy of maintaining a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, 

creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  

Management monitors the capital structure, i.e. the ratio of net debt to operating results. The calculation 

of net debt is provided below. 
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In 2025 and 2024 the Group paid attention to building a balanced loan portfolio and set a goal to reduce 

interest rates.  

mln. RUB  31 December 2025 
 

31 December 2024 

 
 

   

Short-term loans and borrowings  54 191 
 

26 259 

Long-term loans and borrowings  68 416 
 

71 794 

Total loans and borrowings  122 607 
 

98 053 

Less: cash and cash equivalents  (4 585) 
 

(923) 

Less: cash on escrow accounts  (86 581)  (66 796) 

Net debt  31 441 
 

30 334 

Results from operating activities  21 900 
 

13 658 

Finance expenses  (19 170) 
 

(10 241) 

Net debt/Results from operating activities  1,4 
 

2,2 

Finance expenses/Total loans and borrowings  16% 
 

10% 

25 Contingencies 

(a) Insurance 

The Group insured construction and installation risks and post-launch warranty obligations at several 

facilities for a period up to 2025-2028, the book value of reserves for which as at 31 December 2025 

amounted to RUB 53 834 mln. (as of 31 December 2024: RUB 63 322 mln.).  

Also as at 31 December 2025 the Group insured finished products amounted to RUB 9 687 mln. (as at 

31 December 2024: 528 mln). 

The Group does not insure against professional risks of force majeure events, which may arise in 

relation to constructed buildings during the period from the date of revenue recognition to the date of 

title registration by the buyer or signing of the act of acceptance in relation to the share construction. 

The risk of loss in case of force majeure during the specified period is borne by the Group itself. 

(b) Litigations and claims 

The Group is a defendant in a number of legal proceedings where it does not believe there are any 

material adverse consequences, other than those for which a provision has been accrued as of 

31 December 2025 and 31 December 2024. 

(c) Tax contingencies 

Taxation system 

The taxation system in the Russian Federation continues to evolve and is characterized by frequent 

changes in legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions, which are sometimes contradictory 

and subject to varying interpretation by different tax authorities.   

Checks and investigations regarding the correctness of tax calculation are carried out by several 

regulatory bodies that have the right to impose large fines and impose penalties. The correctness of the 

calculation of taxes in the reporting period can be verified within the next three calendar years, 

however, under certain circumstances, this period may be extended. Recently, the practice in the 
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Russian Federation is such that the tax authorities take a tougher position in terms of interpretation and 

compliance with tax legislation. 

These circumstances may lead to the fact that the tax risks in the Russian Federation will be much 

higher than in other countries. The Group's management, based on its understanding of the applicable 

Russian tax legislation, official explanations and court decisions, believes that tax liabilities are 

reflected in an adequate amount. However, the interpretation of these provisions by the tax and judicial 

authorities, especially in connection with the reform of the supreme judicial authorities responsible for 

resolving tax disputes, may be different and, if the tax authorities are able to prove the validity of their 

position, this may have a significant impact on these consolidated financial statements. 

Due to the ambiguity of tax legislation and law enforcement practice, as of December 31, 2025, there 

is a risk of additional income tax and VAT charges for an estimated total amount of RUB 2 300 mln. 

(as of 31 December 2024: RUB 2 500 mln.) due to the reasonableness of deducting certain expenses 

for tax purposes.  

A number of transactions carried out by the Group during the restructuring of the legal structure of the 

Group and the transfer of ownership and lease rights to land plots within the Group may lead to 

additional requirements from the tax authorities, the amount of which cannot be determined accurately, 

but may be significant for the Group. 

Management has not reflected a provision for these liabilities in these consolidated financial statements, 

as it estimates the probability of cash outflow to repay them as possible, but not high. 

(d) Warranties  

Under applicable Russian law, the Group is responsible for the quality of construction work performed 

under its contracts for a period of five years from the date of realization of the relevant facility, except 

for technological and engineering equipment included in the facility. The warranty period for process 

and engineering equipment is three years. Taking into account historical warranty claims, the amount 

of which was insignificant, in the present consolidated financial statements the Group did not reflect 

contingent liabilities on warranties for works performed. 

However, the warranty period that the Group's contractors have to rectify the defects identified in 

accordance with the contractual terms is on average 5 years from the date of signing of the final 

construction and installation works acceptance certificate, from 2 to 2.5% of the total amount of 

contracts with subcontractors is paid only after one year from the date of signing of the final 

construction and installation works acceptance certificate if there are no defects. 

26 Related party transactions 

(a) Transactions with key management personnel and close family members 

The remuneration received by key management personnel during the year was as follows, reflected in 

personnel costs (see Note 8): 

RUB mln.  2025  2024 

Bonuses  75  123 

Wages and salary  126   135 

Contributions to social funds  32  42 

  233  300 

 

Remuneration of independent directors for 2025 amounted to RUB 28.5 mln., including social taxes 

(2024:  RUB 28.3 mln.). 
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(i) Loans 

As at 31 December 2025 the Group issued loans to an enterprise with significant influence on the Group 

and controlled by senior management personnel in the amount of RUB 11 326 million until 2027-2030 

at 2%-15% per annum (as at 31 December 2024: RUB 9 257 mln). Interest income, taking into account 

the release of the discount, amounted to RUB 1 107 million for 2025 (2024: RUB 655 mln) and is 

reflected in financial income. These loans are included in other investments. 

(b) Transactions with other related parties under common control 

Transactions with related parties are of a one-off nature, all settlements on transactions with related 

parties are to be settled in cash within twelve months after the reporting date. All outstanding balances 

are unsecured. The Group's other related party transactions are disclosed below. 

(i) Revenue 

In 2025, revenue from the sale to related parties of a number of premises amounted to RUB 115 mln. 

(2024: RUB 118 mln), revenue from leasing premises amounted to RUB 45 mln (2024: RUB 28 mln). 

As of 31 December 2025 accounts receivable from related parties amounted to RUB 338 mln. (31 

December 2024: RUB 51 mln). 

In 2024 revenue from the sale to related parties of a number of premises previously accounted for as 

part of investment property amounted to RUB 149 mln. 

(ii) Purchase of goods and services 

In 2025 related parties provided real estate and utility services to the Group for commissioned facilities 

and other services in the amount of RUB 469 mln. (in 2024: RUB 286 mln.), also land rights were 

purchased in the amount of RUB 141 mln. As of 31 December 2025 accounts payable for these 

transactions amount to RUB 80 mln. (31 December 2024: RUB 136 mln.). 

(iii) Loans 

As of 31 December 2025 loans issued by the Group to related parties under common control and 

employees of the group amounted to RUB 1 083 mln. (as at 31 December 2024: RUB 2 234 mln.). 

Interest income, taking into account the release of the discount, amounted to RUB 180 mln for 2025 

(2023: RUB 475 mln) and is reflected in financial income. 

As at 31 December 2025 loans received by the Group from related parties amounted to RUB 200 mln. 

(as of 31 December 2024: RUB 348 mln.). 

Both loans received and issued are repayable primarily until 2032. Interest rates are 2%-25% per 

annum. 

(iv) Other transactions 

In 2024 The Group guaranteed related party debt for RUB 5 000 mln. until September 2028. As at 31 

December 2025 obligations for the financial guarantee contract was RUB 303 mln. (as of 31 December 

2024: RUB 413 mln.), depreciation of the financial guarantee as a part of finance income was 

RUB 110 mln (2024: RUB 42 mln.). (see Note 21(с)).  
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27 Significant subsidiaries 

Company Country 

Indirect interest 

31 

December 

2025 

31 

December 

2024 

Management company - a sub-holding company 
   

LLC SSP Russia 100% 100% 

Прочие дочерние предприятия    

LLC Specilizirovany Zastroychik Pioneer-1 Russia 

 

100% 

 

100% 

LLC Specilizirovany Zastroychik  Life Paveletskaya Russia 
 

100% 

 

100% 

LLC Specilizirovany Zastroychik  Business Park Ostankino Russia 
 

100% 

 

100% 

LLC Specilizirovany Zastroychik  MFC Botanika Russia 100% 100% 

LLC Specilizirovany Zastroychik Opus Russia 100% 100% 

LLC Specilizirovany Zastroychik Life Savelovskaya Russia 100% 100% 

LLC Specilizirovany Zastroychik Shift Russia 100% 100% 

LLC Stroytelnaya Kompanya Pioneer Russia 100% 100% 

28 Base for evaluation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of initial (historical) cost. 

29 Material accounting policies 

Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these 

consolidated financial statements. Changes in IFRS did not make a significant impact on the Group’s 

accounting policy. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

(i) Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which 

is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

• The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

• The recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 

• If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity 

interest in the acquire; less 

• The net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired less 

liabilities assumed 

If this difference is expressed in a negative amount, then income from a profitable acquisition is 

immediately recognized as part of profit or loss for the period. 
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The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 

relationships. Such amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss. 

Transaction costs incurred by the Group as a result of the business combination, other than the costs 

associated with the issuance of debt or equity securities, are expensed as they arise. 

Any contingent consideration payable is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. If the 

contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for 

within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are 

recognized in profit or loss. 

(ii) Non-controlling interest 

The charters of some subsidiaries incorporated as limited liability companies stipulate that in the event 

of a withdrawal by a participant the value of its interest should be paid out. As a result, the non-

controlling interest in such subsidiaries are recognized within liabilities in the amount equal to a 

proportional share in net assets of subsidiaries calculated based on Russian accounting standards. Non-

controlling interest for the amount of the difference between net identifiable assets calculated based on 

IFRS and Russian accounting standards is recognized in equity. If the subsidiaries have negative net 

assets, no assets of the non-controlling interest are recognized. 

The non-controlling interest is estimated as a proportion of identifiable net assets in subsidiaries. 

Movements in the non-controlling interest in limited liability companies are recognized in equity. 

(iii) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, 

or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 

consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control 

ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with 

the policies adopted by the Group. 

Acquisition of a controlling interest in the capital of companies that do not perform operations, but 

instead act as the holders of an asset that was the acquisition target, are presented in accounts as the 

purchaser of the asset for the future use of the asset by the Group. The consideration paid to these 

companies is shown as the purchase price of the asset, net of other assets and liabilities identified during 

the acquisition and recognized at their fair value. 

(iv) Acquisitions from entities under common control 

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the 

shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning 

of the earliest comparative period presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; 

for this purpose comparatives are restated. The assets and liabilities acquired are recognized at the 

carrying amounts recognized previously in the Group’s controlling shareholder’s consolidated financial 

statements. The components of equity of the acquired entities are added to the same components within 

Group equity except that any share capital of the acquired entities is recognized as part of additional 

paid-in capital. Any cash paid for the acquisition is recognized directly in equity. 

(v) Loss of control 

Upon the loss of control over a subsidiary, the Group derecognizes its assets and liabilities and 

related non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any positive or negative difference 

resulting from a loss of control is recognized in profit or loss. If the Group retains part of the 

investment in a former subsidiary, this share is measured at fair value at the date of loss of control. 

Subsequently, this interest is accounted for as an investment in an associate (using the equity method) 
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or as an available-for-sale financial asset, depending on the extent to which the Group continues to 

influence the entity. 

(vi) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-

group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized gains on transactions with equity-accounted investees 

are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealized 

losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence 

of impairment.  

(b) Revenue 

(i) Revenue from the sale of real estate properties 

Revenues from sale of real estate properties comprise revenues from sale of flats, commercial real 

estate and parking slots which are constructed without reference to a specific customer’s request. 

If the contract concluded with customer does not provide for use of escrow account, the remuneration 

payable under such a contract is adjusted for the amount of the significant financing component that 

reflects the amount the customer would pay under the contract should such remuneration be paid in 

installments made as stage of project completion increases. 

The transaction price under share-based construction agreements using escrow accounts (e.g. when 

funds from the buyer of real estate are transferred to a special account with an authorized bank), is 

determined taking into account savings on interest expenses as a result of a decrease in the base interest 

rate on project financing depending on the amount of funds deposited by customers on escrow accounts. 

Project finance funds borrowed by the Group at a decreased interest rate as a result of using escrow 

accounts is initially recognized at fair value. 

As amount of funds from buyers deposited on  escrow accounts in the authorized bank increase, the 

average interest rate under the loan agreement decreases, and the resulting savings in the interest rate 

are recognized as part of the transaction price. When registering a share-based construction agreement 

with customer, the Group calculates the savings as the difference between the base and decreased rates 

under the loan agreement accrued on the amount of accumulated payments under the agreements with 

customers for the entire term of the agreement, as a rule, until the date when funds on an escrow account 

become available to the Group. The interest saving calculation is made on the basis of contractual 

payments for share-based construction agreements, limited by the amount of funds planned for 

withdrawal in each forecast period for each escrow loan facility. 

When the loan facility usage (withdrawal) and / or payment schedules under share-based construction 

agreements with customers change, or the level of interest rates changes, an adjustment is made to the 

savings amount (financial asset) recognized in accounting through finance income or expenses in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period when the change 

actually occurred. 

The Group recognizes a financial asset related to the interest savings on project financing loans based 

on the projected withdrawal schedule for the loan, with a corresponding adjustment of the transaction 

price for the funds deposited to the escrow accounts, even if the funds under the loan have not yet been 

received. This financial asset is classified as accounted for at an amortized cost. 

When real estate objects are sold under a share-based construction agreement using escrow accounts, 

the buyer's payment to such an account is not recognized by the Group in the consolidated statement 

of financial position. Revenue is determined using the stage of completion of the fulfillment of the 

contract liability with the simultaneous recognition of the asset under the contract. The contract asset 

is reclassified into accounts receivable when the Group meets the conditions that allow it to transfer 
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the funds deposited on escrow accounts to Group’s own bank accounts. Upon receipt of funds from 

escrow accounts on the Group's accounts, the receivables are settled, and the remainder of the 

unrecognized transaction price is included in liabilities under contracts with customers. 

When the period between cash receipt to escrow accounts and fulfillment of obligation or a part of 

obligation for a share-based construction agreement is less than 12 months for the whole term of the 

contract the practical expedient is used not to calculate a significant financial component. 

Non-cash consideration is measured at the fair value of the assets or services received. 

The approach to determining the amount of revenue under real estate sale agreements and other types 

of agreements for sale of real estate in buildings that have been put into operation is similar to the 

approach defined for share-based construction agreements.  

The costs incurred to obtain and conclude contracts, including real estate services, liability insurance 

and registration of equity participation agreements, as well as contributions to the fund for the 

protection of the rights of individuals concluding shared-based construction agreements, are recognized 

in commercial and administrative expenses as revenue from contracts with customers is recognized. 

Revenue is recognized as control is transferred to the customer. 

The Group estimates the significant component of financing arising from the effect of time value of 

money, taking into account the discount rate that would be applied for a separate financing transaction 

between the Group and the customer at the time of conclusion of the contract. A significant financing 

component is included in the total transaction price and included in the revenue recognized in the period 

as the stage of completion increases.  

In cases where the sale of real estate in multi-apartment residential complexes is carried out in 

accordance with the requirements of Federal Law 214-FZ, according to which the developer has the 

right to receive the full amount of remuneration promised under the contract, and if the construction 

was completed without violating the conditions of the share-based construction agreement, and a 

participant in shared-based construction agreement does not have the right for unilateral refusal to 

perform the contract out of court, revenue is recognized over time as the stage of contract execution 

increases. 

The Group uses the input method to estimate the stage of fulfillment of a contract obligation based on 

the actual costs incurred against total planned costs. 

The cost of acquiring land plots and construction of infrastructure and social and cultural facilities is 

excluded from both actual and total planned costs and is recognized in the cost of sales of the period as 

control over the real estate property is transferred to the buyers. 

(ii) Construction contracts 

Revenue from construction contracts includes construction services that are specifically requested by 

the customer. 

Gains and expenses from construction contracts are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income over the period using the input method to estimate the stage 

of fulfillment of the contract obligation. 

Contract costs are recognized when incurred. The estimated loss on the contract is recognized 

immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

(c) Finance income and expense 

Finance income includes interest income on invested funds, gain on disposal of financial assets, 

exchange rate differences, release of the discount accrued at initial recognition and a significant 

component of financing by installment payments from customers. Interest income is recognized in 



JSC Pioneer Group 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2025 

 

39 
 

profit or loss for the period as it is accrued using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. 

Finance costs include interest expense on loans and borrowings, loss on disposal of financial assets, 

release of the discount recognized on initial recognition of a financial instrument, release of a discount 

on reserves, a significant financing component on advances received from customers, and recognized 

impairment losses of financial assets. 

Borrowing costs that are not directly related to the acquisition, construction or production of a 

qualifying asset are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method. 

Interest expenses, the release of discounts on loans and payables, and a significant financing component 

of advances received from customers are capitalized into the cost of inventories, which are qualifying 

assets, which take a significant amount of time to prepare for sale. These assets mainly included costs 

incurred and recorded in inventories for the acquisition of land plots, land lease rights, changes in the 

type of permitted use of land, as well as costs incurred by the Group for the construction of 

infrastructure and social and cultural facilities. 

Capitalization of financial expenses is carried out in the following order: first of all, interest expenses 

on target loans and borrowings for the land are capitalized, as well as a discount on accounts payable 

related to the acquisition of land, its lease rights and for changing the type of permitted use of land. 

Secondly, interest expense on target loans and borrowings to finance projects and a significant 

financing component on advances received from buyers are capitalized. Thirdly, interest expenses and 

discounts on loans and borrowings received for general purposes are capitalized. 

Capitalization of financial expenses in stocks begins from the date of receipt of the urban development 

plan of the land plot and ends at the time of commissioning of the constructed facilities. 

Gains and losses from changes in foreign exchange rates are recorded net as finance income or finance 

expense, depending on whether the net amount is positive or negative. 

(d) Functional currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Group’s entities 

(Russian ruble) at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the 

exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference 

between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective 

interest and payments during the period, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the 

exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. 

Foreign currency differences arising in translation are recognized in profit or loss.  

(e) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short-term benefits 

When determining the amount of the obligation in respect of short-term employee benefits, discounting 

is not applied, the corresponding expenses are recognized as employees fulfill their work duties. An 

obligation is recognized with respect to amounts expected to be paid under a short-term bonus or profit 

sharing plan if the Group has a valid legal or constructive obligation to pay the corresponding amount 

that arose as a result of the employee's employment in the past, and the amount of this obligation can 

be reliably estimated.  

(ii) Contributions to social funds 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are limited by contributions to 

social funds and are recognized as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during 
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which services are rendered by employees. 

(f) Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the 

extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other 

comprehensive income. 

(i) Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 

assessed using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to 

tax payable in respect of previous years.  

(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 

tax is not recognized for:  

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is 

not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements 

to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.  

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 

differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 

they can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences 

when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 

date. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which 

the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 

assets and liabilities.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets and liabilities, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 

taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a 

net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

In accordance with the tax legislation of the Russian Federation, tax losses and current tax assets of a 

company in the Group may not be set off against taxable profits and current tax liabilities of other 

Group companies. In determining the amount of current and deferred tax the Group takes into account 

the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes, penalties and late-payment interest 

may be due. Tax liabilities include estimated additional taxes including penalties. There estimate is 

based on calculations and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New 

information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgments regarding the 

adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact the tax expense in the 

period that such a determination is made.  

When determining the amount of current and deferred income tax, the Group takes into account the 
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impact of uncertain tax positions and the possibility of additional taxes and fines and penalties for late 

payment of tax. Income tax liabilities include possible additional charges assessed by management, 

taking into account penalties. Their assessment is based on calculations and assumptions and may 

involve the formation of a number of professional judgments regarding the impact of future events. 

Over time, new information may become available to the Group, in connection with which the Group 

may need to change its judgments regarding the adequacy of existing tax obligations. Such changes in 

the amount of tax liabilities will affect the amount of tax for the period in which these judgments have 

changed. 

(g) Inventories 

Real estate objects acquired or under construction/developed for sale in the ordinary course of business 

are reflected in the Group as part of the item "Inventories". 

Inventories include construction in progress on which the Group acts as a client and/or developer, funds 

invested in raw materials and consumables and finished products.  

As part of the construction in progress, investment rights are also taken into account, which include the 

costs of acquiring land, preparation of the land plot for construction and developing project 

documentation. 

Real estate objects where the leasing of an object is not the ultimate goal, but only a necessary 

component of the preparation of the real estate object for sale and contains the Group's intentions to 

sell these objects within its normal operating cycle are reflected under the item "Inventories". These 

objects at the construction stage are reflected as part of the costs under the article "Construction in 

progress", after commissioning - under the article "Finished products". 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 

selling expenses.  

When testing construction in progress for impairment, the expected future cash flows are discounted to 

their present value using a pre-tax discount rate reflecting the current market assessment of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

The cost of real estate is determined on the basis of individual costs for a real estate object. These costs 

are distributed to the constructed apartments and non-residential premises in proportion to their area. 

The cost of real estate includes construction costs and other expenses directly related to a specific 

development project. 

When carrying out construction, the Group may assume the following additional obligations:  

• to transfer certain real estate objects to local authorities free of charge upon completion of their 

construction, for example, parts of the areas in apartments and commercial premises; 

• to build certain infrastructure and socio-cultural facilities in exchange for obtaining a building 

permit, for example, roads, electrical substations and power grids, water supply and sewerage 

systems, highways, schools, kindergartens, landscaping embankments, etc; 

• to build certain public facilities for which it is assumed that the compensation to be received 

from buyers will not reimburse the Group for the costs of their construction, for example, 

parking spaces. 

If the conclusion of such contracts is part of the process of acquiring certain investment rights and these 

contracts are not considered as separate burdensome contracts, the costs of their construction are 

included in the total cost of construction of the building to which these obligations relate.  

The total cost of construction includes construction costs (direct and indirect). Also included are the 

cost of acquiring land and/or its lease rights, the costs of changing the type of permitted use of land, 



JSC Pioneer Group 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2025 

 

42 
 

the amount of accrued reserves in terms of the above expenses and other burdensome contracts for the 

degree of completion of each building, these costs are not included in the calculation of the degree of 

completion and are written off to the cost price in terms of meters sold. 

The Group allocates all general construction expenses, loss-making contracts and expenses on the 

construction of infrastructure and social and cultural facilities (including payments to change the type 

of permitted use for these facilities) to the facilities in proportion to their area. 

In case of the acquisition of land and costs on changing the type of permitted use for all phases of 

construction on a one-time basis and/or within a short period of time, the Group allocates these costs 

to specific blocks in proportion to their selling area, since the Group considers such plots as plots for a 

single construction project. If these costs arise with a significant time gap, the allocation of the cost of 

land and the change in the type of permitted use is carried out directly for each specific site and the 

buildings under construction, since the Group considers each phase of construction as a separate 

project. 

The costs of changing the type of permitted use for stand-alone residential and non-residential buildings 

are allocated directly to each specific site and buildings under construction, since the Group considers 

the construction of residential and non-residential buildings as separate construction projects. 

The cost of inventories, except for the objects of funds invested in the construction of real estate and 

construction in progress, intended for sale, is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and 

includes the costs incurred for the acquisition of inventories and bringing them to their current state.  

The operational cycle of a construction project can exceed twelve months, because project inventories 

are included in current assets, even if they are not expected to be realized within twelve months after 

the reporting date.  

The management of the Group considers the date of the beginning of active development to be the 

receipt of the urban development plan of the land plot. 

(h) Fixed assets 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 

accumulated impairment losses.  

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable 

to bringing the asset to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and 

removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.  

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 

accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.  

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing 

the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is 

recognized net within other income/other expenses in profit or loss.  

(ii) Subsequent expenditure 

The cost of replacing a major component of an item of property, plant and equipment increases the 

carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the 

component will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 

replaced component is written-off. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 

equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  
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(iii) Depreciation 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and are 

ready for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed 

and ready for use. Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its estimated residual value. 

Each major component of an item of property, plant and equipment is generally recognized in profit or 

loss on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful live, since this most closely reflects the expected 

pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets are 

depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that 

the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives of significant items of property, plant and equipment for the current and 

comparative periods are as follows in years: 

• showrooms and inseparable improvements of leased premises  6-10; 

• other buildings        40; 

• nets          25; 

• office equipment, furniture, cars       3-5. 

Depreciation methods, expected useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year 

end and adjusted if appropriate. 

(i) Financial instruments 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognized when they start to exist. All other 

financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized when the Group enters into a contractual 

relationship to which those instruments are related. 

A financial asset (if it is not a trade receivable that does not contain a significant financing component) 

or a financial liability is initially measured at fair value, and for an item not measured at fair value 

through profit or loss, plus the amount of transaction costs that are directly attributable to its purchase 

or emission. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are initially 

measured at the transaction price cost. 

(ii) Non-derivative financial assets – classification and measurement  

Financial assets are reclassified after initial recognition only if the Group changes its business model 

for managing financial assets – in this case all financial assets affected by such change are reclassified 

on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost only if the asset meets both of the following conditions 

and is not classified at the Group's discretion as measured at fair value through profit or loss: 

• the asset is held within a business model whose purpose is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows, and  

• the contractual terms provide for cash flows generation according to a predefined schedule that 

are payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

An investment in a debt instrument is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if 

the instrument meets both of the following conditions and is not classified, at the Group's discretion, 

as measured at fair value through profit or loss: 

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
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contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and 

• the contractual terms provide for cash flows generation according to a predefined schedule that 

are payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

All financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortized cost or fair value 

through other comprehensive income, as described above, are measured at fair value through profit or 

loss. 

The Group assesses the purpose of the business model under which the asset is held at the portfolio 

level as this best reflects the way the business is run and information is provided to management. The 

following information is considered: 

• the policies and objectives established for this portfolio, as well as the effect of these policies 

in practice, including a strategy for obtaining interest income stipulated by the contract, 

maintaining a certain structure of interest rates, ensuring that the maturity of financial assets 

matches the maturity of financial liabilities used to finance these assets, or expected cash 

outflows, or the generation of cash flows through the sale of assets; 

• how the performance of the portfolio is assessed and how this information is communicated to 

the management of the Group; 

• the risks affecting the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and how these risks are managed; 

• how the personnel responsible for managing the portfolio are remunerated (for example, 

whether the remuneration is based on the fair value of the specified assets or on the contractual 

cash flows received from the assets); 

• the frequency, volume and timing of past sales of financial assets, the reasons for such sales, 

and expectations regarding future sales. 

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not 

considered sales for this purpose and the Group continues to recognize these assets. 

Financial assets held for trading or under management and the performance of which is assessed based 

on fair value are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The following accounting is applied to the subsequent measurement of financial assets: 

• Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Net 

gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss for 

the period. 

• Financial assets measured at amortized cost are measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest rate method. Amortized cost is reduced by the amount of the impairment loss. Interest 

income, foreign exchange gains and losses, and impairment losses are recognized in profit or 

loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss for the period. 

• Investments in debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

are measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method, 

foreign exchange gains and losses, and impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Other 

net gains or losses are recognized in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains or 

losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss for the 

period. 

• Investments in equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

are measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as income in profit or loss for the period, 

unless it is clear that the dividend is a reimbursement of part of the initial cost of the investment. 

Other net gains or losses are recognized in other comprehensive income and are never 
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reclassified to profit or loss for the period. 

(iii) Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or fair value through profit or loss. A 

financial liability is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading, 

is a derivative, or is classified as such by the entity on initial recognition. 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and net gains 

and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities 

are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or 

loss arising on derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss. 

Cash under share-based construction agreements received on escrow accounts is not recognized in the 

Group's accounting until the contractual obligations required to transfer money from escrow accounts 

to Group’s own accounts are fulfilled. Project finance received by the Group at a decreased interest rate 

as a result of escrow accounts use is measured at fair value upon initial recognition. 

(iv) Derecognition – financial liabilities  

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when the contractual obligations are settled, canceled or 

terminated. The Group also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash 

flows of that modified liability differ materially, in which case the resulting new financial liability 

based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value. 

Upon derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount repaid and the 

consideration paid (including any non-monetary assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognized 

in profit or loss. 

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its terms change in such a way that the cash flows 

of the modified liability change significantly. In this case, the new financial liability with modified 

terms is recognized at fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the initial financial 

liability and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognized in profit or loss. 

If the modification of conditions (or replacement of a financial liability) does not result in derecognition 

of a financial liability, the Group applies an accounting policy consistent with the approach for 

adjusting the gross carrying amount of a financial asset in cases where the modification of conditions 

does not result in derecognition of the financial asset – e.g. the Group recognizes any adjustment to the 

amortized cost of the financial liability resulting from such modification (or replacement of the 

financial liability) in profit or loss at the date of the modification (or replacement of the financial 

liability). 

Changes in the amount of cash flows on existing financial liabilities are not considered a modification 

of the terms if they are a consequence of the current terms of the agreement, for example, changes in 

interest rates due to changes in the key rate of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation, if the 

corresponding loan agreement provides for the ability of the banks to change interest rates and the 

Group has the right to early repayment at nominal value without significant penalties. 

Changes in the interest rate to market levels in response to changes in market conditions are accounted 

for by the Group in a manner similar to that for floating rate instruments, e.g. the interest rate is revised 

prospectively. 

(v) Derecognition – financial assets 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when it loses the contractual rights to the cash flows generated 

by the financial asset or when it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction 
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in which substantially all of the risks are transferred to the other party and benefits associated with 

ownership of this financial asset, or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains a significant part 

of all risks and rewards of ownership of this financial asset, but does not retain control over the financial 

asset. 

(vi) Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and presented in the consolidated statement of 

financial position net only when the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the 

recognized amounts and intends to either settle them on a net basis or realize the asset and fulfill the 

obligation at the same time. 

(j) Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary 

shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.  

(k)  Impairment 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets 

Financial instruments and contractual assets 

The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) for: 

• financial assets measured at an amortized cost; and 

• contract assets. 

The Group estimates the allowance for losses at an amount equal to the ECL for the entire period, 

except for the following instruments for which the amount of the allowance will be recognized equal 

to 12-month expected credit losses: 

• debt securities, if it was determined that they have low credit risk as of the reporting date; and 

• other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of a default occurring 

over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition. 

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always be measured at an amount equal 

to lifetime expected credit losses. The allowance for impairment of receivables is used to record 

impairment losses, unless the Group is confident that an amount cannot be recovered and records it 

directly as a decrease in the value of the related financial asset. 

In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of a financial asset since 

initial recognition, and in assessing ECL, the Group considers reasonable and reliable information that 

is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative 

information and analysis based on the Group's past experience and sound assessment of credit quality, 

and includes forward-looking information. 

The Group makes an assumption that the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly if it 

is overdue by more than 30 days. 

A financial asset is classified by the Group as financial asset for which a default event occurred in the 

following cases: 

• it is unlikely that the borrower will repay its loan obligations to the Group in full without the 

Group taking such actions as selling collateral, if any; and 

• the financial asset is more than 90 days overdue. 
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Lifetime ECL is ECL that arises from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 

instrument. 

12-month ECL is that portion of ECL that arises from default events that are possible within 12 months 

after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the financial instrument is less than 

12 months). 

The maximum period is considered when ECL is measured over the maximum contractual period over 

which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 

(l) ECL estimation 

Expected credit losses are estimated probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are 

measured as the present value of all expected uncollectible cash flows (i.e. the difference between the 

cash flows due to the Group under the contract and the cash flows the Group expects to receive). 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

Credit-impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses financial assets at amortized cost and debt securities at fair 

value through other comprehensive income for credit impairment. A financial asset is “credit 

impaired” when one or more events occur that adversely affect the estimated future cash flows of that 

financial asset. 

Credit impairment of a financial asset is evidenced by, in particular, the following observable data: 

• significant financial difficulties of the borrower or issuer; 

• violation of the terms of the contract, such as default or delay in payment for more than 90 

days; 

• restructuring by the Group of a loan or advance payment on terms that it would not otherwise 

consider; 

• the emergence of the likelihood of bankruptcy or other financial reorganization of the 

borrower; or 

• the disappearance of an active market for the security as a result of financial difficulties. 

Estimated reserves for losses on financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the 

gross carrying amount of these assets. 

For debt securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, an estimated loss 

allowance is accrued in profit or loss and recorded in other comprehensive income. 

Write-offs 

The full carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reason to expect that 

the financial asset will be recovered in full or in part. For businesses, the Group makes an individual 

assessment of the timing and amounts of write-offs based on reasonable expectations of reimbursement. 

The Group does not expect significant recoveries of the amounts written-off. However, written-off 

financial assets may continue to be subject to enforcement in order to comply with the Group's 

procedures for recovering amounts due. 

(i) Non-financial assets 

The carrying amount of the Group's non-financial assets other than investment property, inventories 

and deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there are indications of 

impairment. If there is any such indication, the recoverable amount of the corresponding asset is 

calculated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or are not yet ready for 
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use, the recoverable amount is calculated at the same time each year. 

For impairment testing purposes, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped into a smaller 

group that generates cash inflows from the continuing use of the related assets, largely independent of 

other assets or CGUs. Provided the limitation that the level of testing cannot be higher than the level 

of operating segments is met, for the purpose of impairment testing, those CGUs to which goodwill has 

been allocated are combined so that impairment testing is performed at the lowest level at which 

goodwill is tracked for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is 

allocated to CGU groups that are expected to benefit from synergy in this business combination. 

The Group's corporate assets do not generate separate cash flows and are used by more than one CGU. 

The value of corporate assets is allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis, and their 

impairment is tested as part of testing the CGUs to which the relevant corporate asset was allocated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of the value in use of that asset (unit) and its 

fair value less selling costs. When calculating the value in use, future expected cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate reflecting the current market estimate of 

the time value of money and risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of the asset or CGU to which the asset 

belongs exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss for the period. An impairment loss on a CGU is first 

credited to the deduction of the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the relevant CGU (or group 

of CGUs) and then proportionally to a decrease in the carrying amount of other assets in that CGU 

(group of CGUs). 

Amounts written-off for impairment losses for goodwill are not reversed. For other assets, an 

impairment loss recognized in a prior period is reviewed at each reporting date in order to identify 

indications that the amount of this loss should be reduced or that it should no longer be recognized. 

Amounts written-off for impairment losses are reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 

to calculate the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets 

are restored to their carrying amount at which they would have been carried (less accumulated 

depreciation) if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

(m) Provisions 

A provision is recognized when, as a result of a past event, the Group has a legal or constructive 

obligation that can be measured reliably and an outflow of economic benefits to settle the obligation is 

probable. The amount of the provision is determined by discounting the expected cash flows at a post-

tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks inherent in 

the liability. Amounts reflecting discount amortization are recognized as finance costs.  

(i) Onerous contracts 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized if the expected benefits to the Group from its fulfillment 

are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting obligations under the relevant contract. This provision 

is measured at its present value, the lower of the expected cost to terminate the contract and the net cost 

of the expected cost to continue to meet the contractual obligations. Before making a provision, the 

Group recognizes all impairment losses on assets attributable to the contract.  

(ii) Provisions for construction of infrastructure 

According to urban planning standards and city regulations , the Group assumes obligations for the 

construction of social and cultural facilities and infrastructure that are not transferred to common 

ownership. As each house is built, the Group includes in the construction cost all costs of such 

properties, even if they have not yet been incurred, and recognizes a provision for infrastructure 
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construction. 

Estimates of future costs are allocated to properties under construction and sold in proportion to their 

area sold and are recognized based on the stage of completion of each block based on the present value 

of the estimated unavoidable net costs required to complete the construction of such infrastructure. 

(iii) Guarantee provisions 

The Group undertakes a warranty obligation in the amount of the difference between the expected costs 

of warranty repairs and the amount of warranty deductions from the Group's contractors. As each house 

is built, the Group includes in the construction cost all expected warranty costs in excess of the 

contractors' warranty deductions, even if they have not yet been incurred, and recognizes a provision 

for warranty obligations. 

Estimates of future costs are allocated to properties under construction and sold on a pro rata basis to 

their area sold and are recognized based on the stage of completion of each building based on the 

present value of the estimated unavoidable net costs required to meet the warranty. 

(iv) Litigation provision 

A provision is recognized when it is highly probable that the Group will lose the litigation in which the 

Group is the defendant and it becomes necessary to settle the liability.  

(n) Leasing  

At the time of inception of the contract, the Group assesses whether the contract as a whole or its 

individual components is a lease. A contract is a lease or contains a lease component if the contract 

transfers the right to control the use of an identified asset for a specified period of time in exchange for 

consideration.  

(i) Group as a lessee 

The portfolio of lease agreements consists primarily of lease agreements for land plots for development 

with residential real estate projects for sale, buildings and premises, equipment and vehicles. Upon 

commencement or modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 

contractual consideration to each lease component based on its relative stand-alone price. However, for 

some leases of real estate, the Group has chosen not to separate the non-lease components and to 

account for the lease components and the corresponding non-lease components as one component of 

the lease. 

The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease. 

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which is the original amount of the lease liability, 

adjusted for lease payments made at or prior to the commencement of the lease, increased by initial 

direct costs incurred and the estimated cost to be incurred on dismantling and the movement of the 

underlying asset, or the restoration of the underlying asset or the site in which it is located, less incentive 

lease payments received. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments outstanding at the 

commencement of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if such rate cannot 

be readily determined, using the Group's incremental borrowing rate, adjusted depending on the rental 

period. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability include: 

• fixed payments, including essentially fixed payments; 

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate at the commencement date of the lease;  
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• amounts expected to be paid by the lessee under the residual value guarantee; 

• exercise price of the call option, if there is sufficient confidence that the Group will exercise 

this option, lease payments during the additional lease period arising from the existence of an 

option to renew the lease, if there is sufficient confidence that the Group will exercise this 

option to extend the lease and penalties for early termination of the lease, unless there is 

reasonable assurance that the Group will not terminate the lease early. 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. It is 

remeasured if future lease payments change due to a change in index or rate, if the Group changes its 

assessment of whether it will exercise a call option, an option to renew or terminate a lease, or if a lease 

payment that is essentially fixed is renegotiated. 

When the lease liability is renegotiated in this way, an adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 

the right-of-use asset or is charged to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset was 

previously reduced to zero. 

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 

property, plant and equipment and lease liabilities under loans and borrowings in the consolidated 

statement of financial position. 

The Group chose not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets 

and short-term leases. The Group recognizes the lease payments made under such agreements as an 

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

When accounting for lease agreements for land plots for the construction of real estate, the Group 

applies the following principles: 

• a lease agreement, as a rule, is concluded initially for a period of 3 to 5 years with the right of 

its subsequent extension; 

• contracts under which rental payments are increased annually in accordance with the base rates 

and coefficients and / or depend on the cadastral value, i.e. can be unilaterally changed by the 

lessor, are considered unpredictable in amount, respectively - variable, and are reflected as they 

accrue; 

• payments for changing the type of permitted land use under lease agreements are recognized 

as lease-related costs and included in the calculation of the lease asset and liability; 

• the lease term used in the calculations corresponds to the lease term, during which the contract 

cannot be terminated unilaterally. The Group also takes into account the right to renew and 

early termination of the contract, which the Group will exercise with reasonable certainty. This 

takes into account the construction period of the facilities on the respective leased land plots 

and the Group's investment strategy.  

An asset in the form of the right to use land plots under construction is included in the construction cost 

depending on the stage of completion of each building. Other lease assets are amortized on a straight-

line basis from the commencement of the lease until the end of the lease term and are included in 

administrative expenses for administrative leases and as cost of sales for production leases. 

(o) Earnings per share 

The Group provides information on basic and diluted earnings on its ordinary shares. Basic earnings 

per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted by 

the number of treasury shares repurchased. 
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Diluted earnings per share are determined by adjusting the amount of profit or loss attributable to 

ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for 

the number of treasury shares repurchased, taking into account the effect of all dilutive potential 

ordinary shares.   

(p) Government grants 

The Group receives government grants in the form of deferral benefits with subsequent release from 

the payment of rent and debts for changing the type of permitted use of land, as well as accrued interest 

on this debt. The basis for receiving benefits is the Group's participation in the implementation of 

investment projects to create jobs in Moscow. 

If the Management of the Group has reasonable assurance that, as of the reporting date and in the future, 

the Group is in compliance with the conditions for granting government grants, land lease and land 

change liabilities are classified as deferred short-term income with the subsequent recognition of these 

incomes in reduction of the cost of investment projects to create places of employment as the proceeds 

from the implementation of these projects are recognized. 

After the investment projects to create jobs are put into use and title registration for 100% area of them 

is confirmed the balance of deferred income is offsetted versus inventory, as all conditions of 

governments grants are fulfilled. 

If there is no reasonable certainty, the debt is reflected in accounts payable, and interest is accrued on 

this debt in the manner prescribed by the lease agreements. 

Commissions relating to bank guarantees issued as a collateral for land rent and which are the condition 

to receive government grants are accounted as a decrease in the amount of government grants. 

(q) Segment reporting  

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities that may generate 

revenue and incur expenses, including revenue and expenses related to transactions with other 

components of the Group. The operating results of the operating segment are regularly reviewed by the 

Group's management, includings revenue, cost of sales, finance and other income and expenses, 

commercial and admistrative expenses, income tax. 

30 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2025 and earlier 

application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in 

preparing these consolidated financial statements.  

(a) IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and applies for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. The new standard introduces the following key new 

requirements. 

– Entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five categories in the statement of 

profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and income tax 

categories. Entities are also required to present a newly-defined operating profit subtotal. Entities' 

net profit will not change. 

– Management-defined performance measures (MPMs) are disclosed in a single note in the financial 

statements. 

– Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group information in the financial statements. 
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In addition, all entities are required to use the operating profit subtotal as the starting point for the 

statement of cash flows when presenting operating cash flows under the indirect method. 

The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard, particularly with respect 

to the structure of the Group's statement of profit or loss, the statement of cash flows and the additional 

disclosures required for MPMs. The Group is also assessing the impact on how information is grouped 

in the financial statements, including for items currently labelled as ‘other’. 

(b) Other accounting standards 

The following new and amended accounting standards are not expected to have a significant impact on 

the Group's consolidated financial statements. 

• Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9 and 

IFRS 7); 

• Amendments to contracts that contain a condition of binding to electricity that depends on 

natural conditions (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7). 

 


